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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit
of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.
The key audit matters

Allowance for expected credit losses on loans to
customers

Loans to customers represent 89% of total assets as
at December 31, 2024 and are stated net of
allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) that
are estimated on a regular basis and are sensitive to
the assumptions used.

The estimation of expected credit losses requires
management to apply significant judgments and
estimation techniques to determine the probability
of default (PD), projected exposure at default
(EAD) and loss given default (LGD), considering
observed historical data, current economic situation
and available forward-looking information.

Credit loss allowance for loans to customers is a
key audit matter due to the significance of the
balances to the Organization’s financial position,
and the complexity and judgement related to the
estimation of ECL under IFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments”.

How was the matter addressed in our audit?

We engaged our experts in financial risk
management to analyse the key aspects of the
Organization’s methodology and policies related to
ECL estimate for compliance with the
requirements of IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”.

To analyse the adequacy of professional judgement
and assumptions made by management in relation
to allowance for ECL estimate we performed the
following procedures:

For loans to customers, we tested the correctness of
data inputs for PD, LGD and EAD calculation,
timely reflection of delinquency events and loan
repayments in the underlying systems and
allocation of loans into the appropriate stages. We
reconciled the input data with supporting
documents on a sample basis.

We also assessed whether the disclosures of the
financial statements appropriately reflect the
Organization’s exposure to credit risk.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
Or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Organization’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Organization or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Organization’s financial reporting process.



e

@ pakertilly

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

« Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Organization’s internal control;

«  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management;

+  Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Organization’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Organization to cease to continue as a going concern,

+  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

‘BQ%P‘ (_h‘m( ?&Zer&\'\a/\

May 15, 2025
Baku, the Republic of Azerbaijan



NBCO “EMBAFINANS” CLOSED JOINT STOCK COMPANY

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024
(In Azerbaijani manats, unless otherwise indicated)

Notes December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents 6 1,038,192 591,411
Loans to customers 7 61,997,393 51,379,588
Investment property 8 3,406,371 3,666,371
Property, equipment and intangible assets 9 317,946 276,497
Right-of-use assets 10 611,832 628.856
Other assets 11,25 2,620,151 2,091,343
Total assets 69,991,885 58,634,066
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES:
Borrowings 12 38,322,553 32,958,730
Debt securities issued 13 2,524,014 5,107,972
Lease liabilities 14 693,792 686,419
Payables to partners 15, 25 631,946 586,867
Taxes payable 1,152,181 263,816
Deferred income tax liability 24 303,437 135,678
Other liabilities 16, 25 562,226 300,595
Total liabilities 44,190,149 40,040,077
EQUITY:
Share capital 17 10,000,000 10,000,000
Retained earnings 15,801,736 8,593,989
Total equity 25,801,736 18,593,989
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 69,991,885 58,634,066
On behalf of the Manageme
Nahid Huseynov—" Shamkhal Aliyev
Director Chief Accountant
May 15, 2025 May 15, 2025

Baku, the Republic of Azerbaijan Baku, the Republic of Azerbaijan

The notes on pages 10-53 form an integral part of these financial statements.



NBCO “EMBAFINANS” CLOSED JOINT STOCK COMPANY

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024
(In Azerbaijani manats, unless otherwise indicated)

Interest income
Interest expense

Net interest income

Charge of expected credit losses on financial assets
Net interest income

Fee and commission income

Fee and commission expense

Net (loss)/gain on foreign currency translation
Net non-interest income

Personnel expenses

General and administrative expenses

Rent income

Other income, net

Profit before income tax

Income tax expense

Net profit for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

Earnings per share attributable to the owners of the
Organization, basic and diluted (expressed in AZN per

share)

On behalf of the Management:

I/

OLMAYAN
0 ~
Nahid H"W KREDIT TOSKILAT
Director “EMBAFINANS”

May 15, 2025
Baku, the Republic of Azerbaijan

Notes Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
18 20,704,350 15,313,123
18 (4,054,693) (3,712,097)
18 16,649,657 11,601,026
19 (1,024,136) (306,485)
15,625,521 11,294,541
20 231,389 131,831
21 (1,158,880) (864,976)
(3,652) 127
14,694,378 10,561,523
22,25 (3,715,805) (2,996,432)
23,25 (2,248,635) (1,690,739)
8,25 180,000 180,000
102,185 51,360
9,012,123 6,105,712
24 (1,804,376) (780,408)
7,207,747 5,325,304
7,207,747 5,325,304
30 721 532

@

Shamkhal Aliyev
Chief Accountant

May 15, 2025

Baku, the Republic of Azerbaijan

The notes on pages 10-53 form an integral part of these financial statements.



NBCO “EMBAFINANS” CLOSED JOINT STOCK COMPANY

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024
(In Azerbajjani manats, unless otherwise indicated)

Share Retained Total
capital earnings equity
January 1, 2023 10,000,000 6,268,685 16,268,685
Total comprehensive income for the year - 5,325,304 5,325,304
Dividends declared - (3,000,000) (3,000,000)
December 31, 2023 10,000,000 8,593,989 18,593,989
Total comprehensive income for the year - 7,207,747 7,207,747
December 31, 2024 10,000,000 15,801,736 25,801,736
On behalf of the Management:Z
Nahid Huseym Shamkhal Aliyev
Director Chief Accountant
May 15,2025 May 15, 2025

Baku, the Republic of Azerbaijan Baku, the Republic of Azerbaijan

The notes on pages 10-53 form an integral part of these financial statements.



NBCO “EMBAFINANS” CLOSED JOINT STOCK COMPANY

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024
(In Azerbaijani manats, unless otherwise indicated)

Cash flows from operating activities:

Interest received

Interest paid

Fees and commissions received

Fees and commissions paid

Personnel expenses paid

General and administrative expenses paid
Other income received, net

Income tax paid

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Loans to customers

Other assets

Payables to partners

Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:

Payments for property, equipment and intangible assets
Rent income received

Net cash provided from/(used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from borrowings

Repayment of borrowings

Proceeds from debt securities issued

Repayment of debt securities issued

Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities
Dividends paid to the shareholders

Net cash provided from financing activities

Notes

12
12
13
13
14
17

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023

19,743,765 16,086,685
(4,113,164) (3,681,559)
231,389 131,831
(1,158,880) (864,976)
(3,521,150) (3,016,684)
(1,889,155) (1,016,291)
124,864 41,018
(585,000) (945,000)
(10,664,656) (14,569,973)
(497,101) (1,136,345)
45,079 191,329
(2,284,009) (8,779,965)
(161,934) (201,287)
195,000 105,000
33,066 (96,287)
51,902,490 49,754,701
(46,599,154) (36,898,453)
1,535,000 1,000,000
(4,000,000) (1,500,000)
(136,960) (111,822)
- (3,000,000)

2,701,376 9,244,426




NBCO “EMBAFINANS” CLOSED JOINT STOCK COMPANY

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 (Continued)

(In Azerbaijani manats, unless otherwise indicated)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of the year

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of the year

On behalf of the Manageme

4

. N
g?rl:ftg“se KREDIT TOSKILATI
“EMBAFINANS”
May 15,2025

Baku, the Republic of Azerbaijan

Notes Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023

(3,652) 127

446,781 368,301

6 591,411 223,110

6 1,038,192 591,411
Shamkhal Aliyev
Chief Accountant

May 15, 2025

Baku, the Republic of Azerbaijan

The notes on pages 10-53 form an integral parﬂt of these financial statements.



NBCO “EMBAFINANS” CLOSED JOINT STOCK COMPANY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024
(In Azerbaijani manats, unless otherwise indicated)

INTRODUCTION
Legal status and nature of operations

NBCO “Embafinans” Closed Joint Stock Company (the “Organization) was registered on June 25, 2012
in the Republic of Azerbaijan. The Organization operates under a special license number BKT-10 issued by
the Central Bank of the Republic of Azerbaijan (“CBAR”) and is regulated by the CBAR.

The Organization mainly lends to individuals to purchase furniture and other home appliances from its
related party, “Embawood” LLC. As at December 31, 2024, such loans represented 37% of total loans to
customers (December 31, 2023: 56%).

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Organization had 6 and 4 branches, respectively, operating in the
Republic of Azerbaijan. The Organization had 137 employees as at December 31, 2024 (December 31, 2023:
132 employees).

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the following shareholders owned the issued share capital of the
Organization:

December 31, December 31,
2024, % 2023, %
Mr. Elshad Abbasov Inshalla 86% 86%
Ms. Polyakova Tamara Bashirovna 14% 14%
100% 100%

The Organization is ultimately controlled by Mr. Elshad Abbasov Inshalla, who owns 86% of the
Organization’s shares (December 31, 2023: 86%).

Operating environment of the Organization

The Organization’s operations are conducted in the Republic of Azerbaijan. The Organization is exposed to
the economic and financial markets of Azerbaijan which display characteristics of an emerging market. The
legal, tax and regulatory frameworks continue to develop, but are subject to varying interpretations and
frequent changes which together with other legal and fiscal impediments contribute to the challenges faced
by entities operating in Azerbaijan.

The depreciation of Azerbaijani manat in 2015-2016 has led to significant uncertainties in the business
environment, therefore government took all required actions to keep the exchange rate stable over the past
8 years. As a result, continuous fluctuation in global oil prices did not affect the local currency and therefore
did not increase the uncertainty in the business environment.

The economy of Azerbaijan expanded 4.1% year-on-year in the January-December period of 2024,
accelerating from a 1.1% growth in the same period last year. The non-oil and gas sector increased by 6.2%,
while the oil and gas sector rose slightly by 0.3%. From the production side, the strongest contributions
came from industry (35.9%) and retail trade (10.7%). Additional support was seen in transportation &
storage (7.0%) and construction (6.7%).

The sustainability of the cease-fire arrangement over the Karabakh region also improves the business
environment as there are number of government-led projects to attract investment and develop the territories
released from occupation.

10



NBCO “EMBAFINANS” CLOSED JOINT STOCK COMPANY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 (Continued)
(In Azerbaijani manats, unless otherwise indicated)

GDP reached AZN 126.3 billion (USD 74.3 billion) in 2024 with 4.1% growth compared to 2023. During
2024, foreign trade turnover of the Republic of Azerbaijan reached about USD 47.6 billion of which export
amounted to USD 26.6 billion and import amounted to USD 21.1 billion according to the statistics of the
State Customs Committee.

By the end of December 2024, number of active plastic cards increased to a historic high of 19,899 thousand
compared to 16,925 thousand in 2023.

International credit rating agencies regularly evaluate the credit rating of the Republic of Azerbaijan. “Fitch”
and “S&P” evaluated the rating of the Republic of Azerbaijan as “BBB-". “Moody’s Investors Service” set
a “Bal” credit rating for the country.

The future economic growth of the Republic of Azerbaijan is largely dependent upon the effectiveness of
economic, financial and monetary measures undertaken by the Government, together with tax, legal,
regulatory and political developments. The Management is unable to predict, all developments in the
economic environment which would have an impact on the Organization’s operations and consequently
what effect, if any, they could have on the financial position of the Organization.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with I[FRS Accounting Standards issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (IFRS Accounting Standards).

Going concern

These financial statements have been prepared on the assumption that the Organization is a going concern
and will continue in operation for the foreseeable future.

Management views the Organization as continuing in business for the foreseeable future with neither the
intention nor the necessity of liquidation, ceasing trading or seeking protection from creditors pursuant to
laws or regulations of the Republic of Azerbaijan. Accordingly, assets and liabilities are recorded on the
basis that the Organization will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course
of business. Some financial reporting frameworks contain an explicit requirement for management to make
a specific assessment of the Organization’s ability to continue as a going concern, and standards regarding
matters to be considered and disclosures to be made in connection with going concern.

Management’s assessment of the going concern assumption involves making a judgment, at a particular
point in time, about the future outcome of events or conditions which are inherently uncertain.

Other basis of presentation criteria

These financial statements are presented in Azerbaijani manat (“AZN”), unless otherwise indicated. These
financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

The Organization maintains its accounting records in accordance with the laws of the Republic of
Azerbaijan. These financial statements have been prepared from the statutory accounting records and have
been adjusted to conform to IFRS Accounting Standards. These adjustments include certain reclassifications
to reflect the economic substance of underlying transactions including reclassifications of certain assets and
liabilities, income and expenses to appropriate financial statement captions.

11



NBCO “EMBAFINANS” CLOSED JOINT STOCK COMPANY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 (Continued)
(In Azerbaijani manats, unless otherwise indicated)

Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position
when, and only when, the Organization currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off the recognized
amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
The Organization currently has a legally enforceable right to set off if that right is not contingent on a future
event and enforceable both in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or
bankruptcy of the Organization and all counterparties.

Foreign currency translation

The functional currency of the Organization is the currency of the primary economic environment in which
the Organization operates. These financial statements are presented in AZN, which is the Organization’s
functional and presentation currency.

Monetary assets and liabilities are translated into the Organization’s functional currency at the official
exchange rate of the CBAR at the end of the respective reporting period. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities into
the Organization’s functional currency at year-end official exchange rates of the CBAR, are recognized in
profit or loss for the year (as foreign exchange translation gains less losses). Translation at year-end rates
does not apply to non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined. Effects of exchange rate changes on non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are recorded as part of the fair value gain or loss.

The exchange rates used by the Organization in the preparation of the financial statements at the year-end
are as follows:

December 31, December 31,

2024 2023
AZN/1 USD 1.7000 1.7000
AZN/1 EUR 1.7724 1.8766

Financial instruments - key measurement terms

Depending on their classification, financial instruments are carried at fair value or amortized cost as
described below.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The best evidence of fair value is the price
in an active market. An active market is one in which transactions for the asset or liability take place with
sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

Fair value of financial instruments traded in an active market is measured as the product of the quoted price
for the individual asset or liability and the number of instruments held by the entity. This is the case even if
a market’s normal daily trading volume is not sufficient to absorb the quantity held and placing orders to
sell the position in a single transaction might affect the quoted price.

Valuation techniques such as discounted cash flow models or models based on recent arm’s length
transactions or consideration of financial data of the investees are used to measure fair value of certain
financial instruments for which external market pricing information is not available. Fair value
measurements are analysed by level in the fair value hierarchy as follows: (i) level one are measurements at
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, (ii) level two measurements
are valuations techniques with all material inputs observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is,
as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices), and (iii) level three measurements are valuations not
based on solely observable market data (that is, the measurement requires significant unobservable inputs).
12



NBCO “EMBAFINANS” CLOSED JOINT STOCK COMPANY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 (Continued)
(In Azerbaijani manats, unless otherwise indicated)

Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are deemed to have occurred at the end of the reporting
period.

Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a
financial instrument. An incremental cost is one that would not have been incurred if the transaction had not
taken place. Transaction costs include fees and commissions paid to agents (including employees acting as
selling agents), advisors, brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory agencies and securities exchanges, and
transfer taxes and duties. Transaction costs do not include debt premiums or discounts, financing costs or
internal administrative or holding costs.

Amortized cost is the amount at which the financial instrument was recognized at initial recognition less
any principal repayments, plus accrued interest, and for financial assets less any write-down for incurred
impairment losses. Accrued interest includes amortization of transaction costs deferred at initial recognition
and of any premium or discount to the maturity amount using the effective interest method. Accrued interest
income and accrued interest expense, including both accrued coupon and amortized discount or premium
(including fees deferred at origination, if any), are not presented separately and are included in the carrying
values of the related items in the statement of financial position.

The effective interest method is a method of allocating interest income or interest expense over the relevant
period, so as to achieve a constant periodic rate of interest (effective interest rate) on the carrying amount.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts
(excluding future credit losses) through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, if
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial instrument. The effective interest rate discounts cash
flows of variable interest instruments to the next interest repricing date, except for the premium or discount,
which reflects the credit spread over the floating rate specified in the instrument, or other variables that are
not reset to market rates. Such premiums or discounts are amortized over the whole expected life of the
instrument. The present value calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.

Initial recognition of financial instruments

A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue.

Fair value at initial recognition is best evidenced by the transaction price. A gain or loss on initial recognition
is only recorded if there is a difference between fair value and transaction price which can be evidenced by
either observable current market transactions in the same instrument or by a valuation technique whose
inputs include only data from observable markets.

All purchases and sales of financial assets that require delivery within the time-frame established by
regulation or market convention (“regular-way” purchases and sales) are recorded at the trade date, which
is the date when the Organization commits to deliver a financial instrument. All other purchases and sales
are recognized when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Classification of financial instruments

A financial asset is classified as measured at: amortized cost, fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCTI”) or fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”).

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVTPL:

e the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash
flows; and

e the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

13



NBCO “EMBAFINANS” CLOSED JOINT STOCK COMPANY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 (Continued)
(In Azerbaijani manats, unless otherwise indicated)

A debt instrument is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVTPL:

e the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling financial assets; and

e the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Organization may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in fair value in other comprehensive income. This election is made on
an investment-by-investment basis.

All other financial assets are classified as measured at FVTPL.

In addition, on initial recognition, the Organization may irrevocably designate a financial asset that
otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortized cost or at FVOCI at FVTPL if doing so
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Business model assessment

The Organization makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at a
portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to
management. The information considered includes:

e the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. In
particular, whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest revenue, maintaining
a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of the
liabilities that are funding those assets or realizing cash flows through the sale of the assets;

e how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Organization’s management;

o the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that
business model) and how those risks are managed;

e how managers of the business are compensated — e.g., whether compensation is based on the fair value
of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and

e the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its expectations
about future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not considered in isolation, but
as part of an overall assessment of how the Organization’s stated objective for managing the financial
assets is achieved and how cash flows are realized.

Financial assets that are held for trading or managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value
basis are measured at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both
to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets.

Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest

For the purposes of this assessment, “principal” is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial
recognition. “Interest” is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk
associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic
lending risks and costs (e.g., liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the
Organization considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial
asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that
it would not meet this condition. In making the assessment, the Organization considers:

14



NBCO “EMBAFINANS” CLOSED JOINT STOCK COMPANY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 (Continued)
(In Azerbaijani manats, unless otherwise indicated)

contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;

leverage features;

prepayment and extension terms;

terms that limit the Organization’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g., non-recourse asset
arrangements); and

o features that modify consideration of the time value of money — e.g., periodical reset of interest rates.

Reclassification of financial assets

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period after the
Organization changes its business model for managing financial assets.

The Organization should reclassify financial assets if the Organization changes its business model for
managing those financial assets. Such changes are expected to be very infrequent. Such changes are
determined by the Organization’s senior management as a result of external or internal changes and must be
significant to the Organization’s operations and demonstrable to external parties. Accordingly, a change in
the Organization’s business model will occur only when the Organization either begins or ceases to perform
an activity that is significant to its operations; for example, when the Organization has acquired, disposed
of or terminated a business line.

Modification and derecognition of financial assets

A modification of a financial asset occurs when the contractual terms governing the cash flows of a financial
asset are renegotiated or otherwise modified between initial recognition and maturity of the financial asset.
A modification affects the amount and/or timing of the contractual cash flows either immediately or at a
future date.

The Organization renegotiates loans to customers in financial difficulty to maximize collection and
minimize the risk of default. Loan terms are modified in cases where although the borrower made all
reasonable efforts to pay under the original contractual terms, there is a high risk of default or default has
already happened and the borrower is expected to be able to meet the revised terms. The revised terms in
most of the cases include an extension of the maturity of the loan, changes to the timing of the cash flows
of the loan (principal and interest repayment), reduction in the amount of cash flows due (principal and
interest forgiveness) and amendments to other terms. When a financial asset is modified, the Organization
assesses whether this modification results in derecognition. In accordance with the Organization’s policy, a
modification results in derecognition when it gives rise to substantially different terms. To determine if the
modified terms are substantially different from the original contractual terms the Organization considers the
following:

e Quantitative assessment is performed to compare the present value of the remaining contractual cash
flows under the original terms with the contractual cash flows under the revised terms, both amounts
discounted at the original EIR. If the difference in present value is greater than 10% the Organization
deems the arrangement is substantially different leading to derecognition.

If the terms are substantially different, the Organization derecognizes the original financial asset and
recognizes a “new” asset at fair value and recalculates a new EIR for the asset. The date of renegotiation is
consequently considered to be the date of initial recognition for impairment calculation purposes, including
for the purpose of determining whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred.

If the terms are not substantially different, the renegotiation or modification does not result in derecognition,
and the Organization recalculates the gross carrying amount based on the revised cash flows of the financial
asset and recognizes a modification gain or loss in profit or loss. The new gross carrying amount is
recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original EIR (or credit-adjusted EIR for purchased
or originated credit-impaired financial assets).
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The Organization derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the asset’s cash flows
expire (including expiry arising from modification with substantially different terms), or when the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are transferred to another entity.
If the Organization neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Organization recognizes its retained interest in the asset and
an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Organization retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Organization continues to recognize the
financial asset.

Impairment of financial assets

The Organization recognizes loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECL) on the following financial
instruments that are not measured at FVTPL:

e financial assets that are debt instruments;
e loan commitments issued.

12-month ECL is the portion of ECL that results from default events on a financial instrument that are
possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. Financial instruments for which a 12-month ECL is
recognized are referred to as “Stage 1” financial instruments.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of the financial
instrument. Financial instruments for which a lifetime ECL is recognized are referred to as “Stage 2” financial
instruments (if the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, but the financial instruments
are not credit-impaired) and “Stage 3” financial instruments (if the financial instruments are credit-impaired).

Measurement of ECL
ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows:

e financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash
shortfalls (i.e., the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the Organization expects to receive);

e financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows;

e undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows
that are due to the Organization if the commitment is drawn down and the cash flows that the
Organization expects to receive.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Organization assesses whether financial assets carried at amortized cost, debt
financial assets carried at FVOCI, and finance lease receivables, if any, are credit-impaired (referred to as
“Stage 3 financial assets”). A financial asset is “credit-impaired” when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

e significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

e abreach of contract such as a default or past due event;

e the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Organization on terms that the Organization would not
consider otherwise;

e it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; or

e the disappearance of an active market for security because of financial difficulties.
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A loan that has been renegotiated due to a deterioration in the borrower’s condition is usually considered to
be credit-impaired unless there is evidence that the risk of not receiving contractual cash flows has reduced
significantly and there are no other indicators of impairment. In addition, a loan that is overdue for 90 days
or more is considered credit-impaired.

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position
Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:

e financial assets measured at amortized cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the assets;

e loan commitments: generally, as a provision;

e where a financial instrument includes both a drawn and an undrawn component, and the Organization
cannot identify the ECL on the loan commitment component separately from those on the drawn
component: the Organization presents a combined loss allowance for both components. The combined
amount is presented as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the drawn component. Any excess
of the loss allowance over the gross amount of the drawn component is presented as a provision; and

e debt instruments measured at FVOCI: no loss allowance is recognized in the statement of financial
position because the carrying amount of these assets is their fair value. However, the loss allowance is
disclosed and is recognized in the fair value reserve.

Werite-offs

Loans and debt securities are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no reasonable expectation
of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. This is generally the case when the
Organization determines that the borrower does not have assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. This assessment is carried out at the
individual asset level.

Recoveries of amounts previously written off are included in “impairment losses on financial instruments”
in the statement of comprehensive income.

Financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with
the Organization’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are items, which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and
correspondent accounts with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. Cash
and cash equivalents are carried at amortized cost in the statement of financial position.

Loans to customers

Loans to customers are recorded when the Organization advances money to purchase or originate a loan due
from a customer. Loans to customers are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct transaction
costs, and subsequently measured at their amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Investment property

Investment property is property held or being constructed by the Organization to earn rental income or for
capital appreciation, or both and which is not occupied by the Organization.

Investment property is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and provision for impairment, where
required.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified to property and equipment.
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Property and equipment

Property and equipment are initially recognized at acquisition cost, including any costs directly attributable
to bringing the assets to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by the Organization’s management. These assets are subsequently measured using the cost model
and are stated at cost less subsequent depreciation and impairment losses.

Gains or losses arising on the disposal of property and equipment are determined as the difference between
the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the assets and are recognized in profit or loss within “other
income”.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets include acquired software used in operations. They are accounted for using the cost model
whereby capitalized costs are amortized on a straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, as these
assets are considered finite. Residual values and useful lives are reviewed at each reporting date. In addition,
they are subject to impairment testing. The useful life of software is 10 years.

Costs associated with maintaining computer software, i.e., expenditure relating to patches and other minor
updates as well as their installation, is expensed as incurred.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an intangible asset is determined as the difference between the
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, and is recognized in profit or loss within “other income”.

Right-of-use assets

The Organization recognizes right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any re-measurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognized, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term.

If the ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Organization at the end of the lease term or the cost
reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the
asset. The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment.

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization are recognized on a straight-line method to write down the cost less estimated
residual value of investment property, property, equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets,

respectively.

The following estimated useful lives are applied:

Investment property 25 years

Office equipment 5 years

Computer and equipment 5 years

Vehicles 5 years

Other assets 5 years

Intangible assets 10 years

Right-of-use assets over the term of the underlying lease

Material residual value estimates and estimates of useful life are updated as required, but at least annually,
whether or not the asset is revalued.
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Impairment of non-financial assets

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are largely
independent cash inflows (cash-generating units). As a result, some assets are tested individually for
impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit level.

All individual assets or cash-generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit's carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use.
To determine the value-in-use, management estimates expected future cash flows from each cash-generating
unit and determines a suitable interest rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

All assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognized may no
longer exist. An impairment charge is reversed if the cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount exceeds its
carrying amount.

Other assets

Other assets are measured at initial recognition at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest rate method.

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Organization are recognized at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Organization’s own equity instruments is recognized and deducted directly in equity. No
gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Organization’s
own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

The Organization derecognizes a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the
modified liability are substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified
terms is recognized at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
extinguished and the new financial liability with modified terms is recognized in profit or loss.

Consideration paid includes non-financial assets transferred, if any, and the assumption of liabilities,
including the new modified financial liability.

The Organization performs a quantitative and qualitative evaluation of whether the modification is
substantial considering qualitative factors, quantitative factors and the combined effect of qualitative and
quantitative factors. The Organization concludes that the modification is substantial as a result of the
following qualitative factors:
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change the currency of the financial liability;
change in collateral or other credit enhancement;
inclusion of conversion option;

change in the subordination of the financial liability.

For the quantitative assessment, the terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the
cash flows under the new terms, including any fees, paid net of any fees received and discounted using the
original effective interest rate, is at least 10 percent different from the discounted present value of the
remaining cash flows of the original financial liability.

If the modification of a financial liability is not accounted for as derecognition, then the amortized cost of
the liability is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate and
the resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss. For floating-rate financial liabilities, the original
effective interest rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market
terms at the time of the modification. Any costs and fees incurred are recognized as an adjustment to the
carrying amount of the liability and amortized over the remaining term of the modified financial liability by
re-computing the effective interest rate on the instrument.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recorded when money or other assets are advanced to the Organization by banks and other
financial institutions. The non-derivative liability is carried at amortized cost.

If the Organization purchases its own debt, the liability is removed from the statement of financial position
and the difference between the carrying amount of the liability and the consideration paid is included in
gains or losses arising from retirement of debt.

Debt securities issued

Debt securities issued are stated at amortized cost. If the Organization purchases its own debt securities
issued, they are removed from the statement of financial position and the difference between the carrying
amount of the liability and consideration paid is included in gains arising from early retirement of debt.

Lease liabilities

The Organization assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

The Organization applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Organization recognizes lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

At the commencement date of the lease, the Organization recognizes lease liabilities measured at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Organization and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Organization
exercising the option to terminate.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognized as expenses (unless they
are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.
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In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Organization uses its incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After
the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is re-measured if
there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future
payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in
the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

Payables to partners

The cash price of furniture and other home appliances for which loans were advanced to customers is
transferred directly to partners either at the loan origination date or at a later date. Payables to partners are
stated at amortized cost.

Other liabilities

Other liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortized cost, using
the effective interest rate method.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares
and share options are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

The ability of the Organization to declare and pay dividends is subject to the rules and regulations of
Azerbaijan legislation.

Dividends in relation to ordinary shares are reflected as an appropriation of retained earnings in the period
when they are declared.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognized when present obligations as a result of a past event will probably lead to an
outflow of economic resources from the Organization and amounts can be estimated reliably. Timing or
amount of the outflow may still be uncertain. A present obligation arises from the presence of a legal or
constructive commitment that has resulted from past events.

Provision for guarantee claims and other off-balance sheet obligations is recognized when intimated and
reasonable certainty exists to settle the obligations. Expected recoveries are recognized by debiting customer
accounts. Charge to profit and loss account is stated net of expected recoveries. Provisions are not
recognized for future operating losses.

Provisions are discounted to their present values, where the time value of money is material.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

In those cases where the possible outflow of economic resources as a result of present obligations is

considered improbable or remote, no liability is recognized, unless it was assumed in the course of a business
combination.
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Retirement and other benefit obligations

In accordance with the requirements of the legislation of the Republic of Azerbaijan, state pension system
provides for the calculation of current payments by the employer as a percentage of current total payments
to staff. This expense is charged in the period the related salaries are earned. Upon retirement, all retirement
benefit payments are made by the State Social Protection Fund. The Organization does not have any pension
arrangements separate from the state pension system of the Republic of Azerbaijan. In addition, the
Organization has no post-retirement benefits or other significant compensated benefits requiring accrual.

Recognition of interest income and expense

Interest income and expense are recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest method. The
“effective interest rate” is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through
the expected life of the financial instrument to:

e the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or
e the amortized cost of the financial liability.

When calculating the effective interest rate for financial instruments other than purchased or originated
credit-impaired assets, the Organization estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the
financial instrument, but not expected credit losses. For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial
assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated using estimated future cash flows including
expected credit losses.

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs and fees and points paid or received
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or financial liability.

Amortized cost and gross carrying amount

The “amortized cost” of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or
financial liability is measured on initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the
cumulative amortization using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount
and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any expected credit loss allowance.

The “gross carrying amount of a financial asset” measured at amortized cost is the amortized cost of a
financial asset before adjusting for any expected credit loss allowance.

Calculation of interest income and expense

The effective interest rate of a financial asset or financial liability is calculated on initial recognition of a
financial asset or a financial liability. In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate
is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortized
cost of the liability. The effective interest rate is revised as a result of periodic re-estimation of cash flows
of floating rate instruments to reflect movements in market rates of interest.

The effective interest rate is also revised for fair value hedge adjustments at the date amortization of the
hedge adjustment begins.

However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest

income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortized cost of the financial asset. If the
asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.
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Presentation

Interest income calculated using the effective interest method presented in the statement of comprehensive
income includes:

e interest on financial assets measured at amortized cost.

Interest expense presented in the statement of comprehensive income includes:
e interest on financial liabilities measured at amortized cost.

Fee and commission income and expense

Fee and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset
or financial liability are included in the effective interest rate.

Loan origination fees, loan servicing fees and other fees that are considered to be integral to the overall
profitability of a loan, together with the related transaction costs, are deferred and amortized to interest
income over the estimated life of the financial instrument using the effective interest method.

Other fee and commission income — including account servicing fees, investment management fees, sales
commission, placement fees and syndication fees — are recognized as the related services are performed. If
a loan commitment is not expected to result in the drawdown of a loan, then the related loan commitment
fee is recognized on a straight-line basis over the commitment period.

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses are recognized in profit or loss upon utilization of the service or at the
date of their origin.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the current and deferred tax expense.

The current tax expense is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as
reported in the statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Organization’s current tax expense is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted during the reporting period.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be
utilized. Such assets and liabilities are not recognized if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the tax profit nor the accounting
profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that

it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.
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Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled
or the asset is realized. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the statement of comprehensive income, except
when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt
with in equity. Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset and reported net on
the statement of financial position if:

e The Organization has a legally enforceable right to set off current income tax assets against current
income tax liabilities; and

e Deferred tax assets and the deferred income tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on the same taxable entity.

Azerbaijan Republic also has various other taxes, which are assessed on the Organization’s activities. These
taxes are included as a component of general and administrative expenses in the statement of comprehensive
income.

Earnings per share

Earnings per share are determined by dividing the profit or loss attributable to owners of the Organization
by the weighted average number of participating shares outstanding during the reporting year.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

The preparation of the Organization’s financial statements requires management to make estimates and
judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the reporting date and the reported
amount of income and expenses during the period ended. Management evaluates its estimates and judgments
on an ongoing basis. Management bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience and on various
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these
estimates under different assumptions or conditions. The following estimates and judgments are considered
important to the portrayal of the Organization’s financial condition.

Judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements and
estimates that can cause a significant adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year include:

Measurement of ECL allowance

Measurement of ECLs is a significant estimate that involves the determination of methodology, models and
data inputs. Details of the ECL measurement methodology are disclosed in Note 29. The following
components have a major impact on credit loss allowance: definition of default, SICR, probability of default
(“PD”), exposure at default (“EAD”), and loss given default (“LGD”), as well as models of macroeconomic
scenarios.

The Organization regularly reviews and validates the models and inputs to the models to reduce any
differences between expected credit loss estimates and actual credit loss experience. For details of ECL
measurement including the incorporation of forward-looking information refer to Note 29.

Significant increase in credit risk (“SICR”)

In order to determine whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk, the Organization compares
the risk of a default occurring over the life of a financial instrument at the end of the reporting date with the
risk of default at the date of initial recognition. The assessment considers a relative increase in credit risk
rather than achieving a specific level of credit risk at the end of the reporting period.
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The Organization considers all reasonable and supportable forward-looking information available without
undue cost and effort, which includes a range of factors, including behavioural aspects of particular customer
portfolios. The Organization identifies behavioural indicators of increases in credit risk prior to delinquency
and incorporated appropriate forward-looking information into the credit risk assessment, either at an
individual instrument or on a portfolio level. Refer to Note 29.

Business model assessment

The business model drives the classification of financial assets. Management applied judgement in
determining the level of aggregation and portfolios of financial instruments when performing the business
model assessment. When assessing sales transactions, the Organization considers their historical frequency,
timing and value, reasons for the sales and expectations about future sales activity. Sales transactions aimed
at minimizing potential losses due to credit deterioration are considered consistent with the “hold to collect”
business model. Other sales before maturity, not related to credit risk management activities, are also
consistent with the “hold to collect” business model, provided that they are infrequent or insignificant in
value, both individually and in aggregate. The Organization assesses the significance of sales transactions
by comparing the value of the sales to the value of the portfolio subject to the business model assessment
over the average life of the portfolio. In addition, sales of financial asset expected only in stress case
scenario, or in response to an isolated event that is beyond the Organization’s control, is not recurring and
could not have been anticipated by the Organization, are regarded as incidental to the business model
objective and do not impact the classification of the respective financial assets.

The “hold to collect and sell” business model means that assets are held to collect the cash flows, but selling
is also integral to achieving the business model’s objective, such as, managing liquidity needs, achieving a
particular yield, or matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of the liabilities that fund
those assets.

The residual category includes those portfolios of financial assets, which are managed with the objective of
realizing cash flows primarily through sale, such as where a pattern of trading exists. Collecting contractual
cash flow is often incidental for this business model.

Assessment of whether cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”)

Determining whether a financial asset’s cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest required
judgement. The time value of money element may be modified, for example, if a contractual interest rate is
periodically reset but the frequency of that reset does not match the tenor of the debt instrument’s underlying
base interest rate, for example, a loan pays three months interbank rate but the rate is reset every month. The
effect of the modified time value of money was assessed by comparing relevant instrument’s cash flows
against a benchmark debt instrument with SPPI cash flows, in each period and cumulatively over the life of
the instrument. The assessment was implemented for all reasonably possible scenarios, including reasonably
possible financial stress situations that can occur in financial markets. In case of a scenario with cash flows
that significantly differ from the benchmark, the assessed instrument’s cash flows are not SPPI and the
instrument is then carried at FVTPL.

The Organization identified and considered contractual terms that change the timing or amount of
contractual cash flows. The SPPI criterion is met if a loan allows early settlement and the prepayment
amount substantially represents principal and accrued interest, plus a reasonable additional compensation
for the early termination of the contract. The asset’s principal is the fair value at initial recognition less
subsequent principal repayments, i.e., instalments net of interest determined using the effective interest
method. As an exception to this principle, the standard also allows instruments with prepayment features
that meet the following condition to meet SPPI: (i) the asset is originated at a premium or discount, (ii) the
prepayment amount represents contractual paramount and accrued interest and reasonable additional
compensation for the early termination of the contract, and (ii) the fair value of the prepayment feature is
immaterial at initial recognition.
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Fair value of financial instruments

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of financial
position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques
that include the use of mathematical models. The input to these models is taken from observable markets
where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required in establishing fair values.

Initial recognition of related party transactions

In the normal course of business, the Organization enters into transactions with its related parties. IFRS 9
requires initial recognition of financial instruments based on their fair values. Judgment is applied in
determining if transactions are priced at market or non-market interest rates, where there is no active market
for such transactions. The basis for judgment is pricing for similar types of transactions with unrelated
parties and effective interest rate analysis.

Useful lives of depreciable and amortizable assets

The Management reviews the useful lives of depreciable and amortisable assets which include investment
property, property, equipment, intangible and right-of-use assets at each reporting date, based on the
expected utility of the assets to the Organization. Actual results, however, may vary due to technical
obsolescence, particularly relating to software and IT equipment.

Impairment of non-financial assets

An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset's or cash-generating unit’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. To determine the recoverable amount, management estimates
expected future cash flows from each cash-generating unit and determines a suitable interest rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows. In the process of measuring expected future cash flows
management makes assumptions about future operating results. These assumptions relate to future events
and circumstances. The actual results may vary, and may cause significant adjustments to the Organization’s
assets within the next financial year. In most cases, determining the applicable discount rate involves
estimating the appropriate adjustment to market risk and the appropriate adjustment to asset-specific risk
factors.

Valuation of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets

The application of IFRS 16 requires to make judgements of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. In
determining the lease term, the Organization considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic
incentive to exercise renewal options (or not to exercise termination options). Assessing whether a contract
includes a lease also requires judgement.

Estimates are required to determine the appropriate discount rate used to measure lease liabilities. The
Organization cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental
borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Organization would
have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects
what the Organization ‘would have to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available
(for example, when the Organization does not enter into financing transactions) or when they need to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in the
Organization’s functional currency). The Organization estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as
market interest rates) when available and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the
Organization’s credit rating).

Provisions

Provisions are raised based on management’s estimates from information available surrounding particular
transactions. Prudence is exercised when estimating provisions so as not to materially overstate the
Organization’s reported net income and understate its liabilities.
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Contingent liability arising from litigations

Due to the nature of its operations, the Organization may be involved in litigations arising in the ordinary
course of business. Provision for contingent liabilities arising from litigations is based on the probability of
outflow of economic resources and reliability of estimating such outflow. Such matters are subject to many
uncertainties and the outcome of individual matters is not predictable with assurance. Estimates and
underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are applied prospectively.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

The Organization has adopted all of the applicable new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by
the IASB and the IFRIC of the IASB that are relevant to its operations and effective for the year ended
December 31, 2024.

The TASB has issued “Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback” (Amendments to IFRS 16) with
amendments that clarify how a seller-lessee subsequently measures sale and leaseback transactions that
satisfy the requirements in IFRS 15 to be accounted for as a sale. Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
(Amendments to IFRS 16) requires a seller-lessee to subsequently measure lease liabilities arising from a
leaseback in a way that it does not recognize any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it
retains. The new requirements do not prevent a seller-lessee from recognizing in profit or loss any gain or
loss relating to the partial or full termination of a lease.

Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current - In January 2020 and
October 2022, the IASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of IAS 1 to specify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments clarify:

— What is meant by a right to defer settlement;

— That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period;

— That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right;

— That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument would the
terms of a liability not impact its classification.

In addition, a requirement has been introduced to require disclosure when a liability arising from a loan
agreement is classified as non-current and the entity’s right to defer settlement is contingent on compliance
with future covenants within twelve months.

In May 2023, the IASB published “Supplier Finance Arrangements” (Amendment to IAS 7 and
IFRS 7) — These amendments require disclosures to enhance the transparency of supplier finance
arrangements and their effects on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. The
disclosure requirements are the IASB’s response to investors’ concerns that some companies’ supplier
finance arrangements are not sufficiently visible, hindering investors’ analysis.

Unless otherwise disclosed, the new standards did not have a material effect on the financial statements of
the Organization.

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

At the date of authorization of these financial statements, other than the Standards and Interpretations
adopted by the Organization in advance of their effective dates, the following standards, interpretations and

amendments were in issue but not yet effective. The Organization intends to adopt these new and amended
standards and interpretations, if applicable, when they become effective.
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In August 2023, the IASB amended IAS 21 “The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates” to
clarify when a currency is exchangeable into another currency and how a company estimates a spot rate
when a currency lacks exchangeability. An entity is impacted by the amendments when it has a transaction
or an operation in a foreign currency that is not exchangeable into another currency at a measurement date
for a specified purpose. A currency is exchangeable when there is an ability to obtain the other currency,
with a normal administrative delay, and the transaction would take place through a market or exchange
mechanism that creates enforceable rights and obligations. The amendments are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2025, with the option for early adoption.

On May 30, 2024, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and IFRS 7
“Financial Instruments: Disclosures” concerning the classification and measurement of financial
instruments. Key changes include:

e Derecognition of financial liabilities: Allows liabilities settled via electronic transfer to be considered
discharged prior to the settlement date under specified criteria.

e C(lassification of financial assets: Provides guidance on assessing contractual terms for basic lending
arrangements, enhances the definition of non-recourse features, and clarifies characteristics of
contractually linked instruments.

e Disclosures: Introduces new requirements for equity investments at fair value through OCI and for
contingent terms affecting cash flows.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2026, with
retrospective application allowed and early adoption permitted.

On July 18, 2024, the IASB published “Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards —
Volume 11”.

This publication includes the following amendments:

IFRS 1: Clarifications on hedge accounting for first-time adopters.

IFRS 7: Guidance on recognizing gains or losses on derecognition.

IFRS 7: Improved disclosures for deferred differences between fair value and transaction price.
IFRS 7: Enhancements to introduction and credit risk disclosures.

IFRS 9: Clarifications on lessee derecognition of lease liabilities.

IFRS 9: Additional guidance on transaction price determination.

IFRS 10: Clarifications on the determination of a ‘de facto agent.’

IAS 7: Improvements related to the cost method.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2026.

On April 9, 2024, the IASB issued a new standard — IFRS 18, “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements” — in response to investors’ concerns about the comparability and transparency of entities’
performance reporting. The new requirements introduced in IFRS 18 will help to achieve comparability of
the financial performance of similar entities, especially related to how ‘operating profit or loss’ is defined.
The key new concepts introduced in IFRS 18 relate to:

e the structure of the statement of profit or loss;

e required disclosures in the financial statements for certain profit or loss performance measures that are
reported outside an entity’s financial statements (that is, management-defined performance measures);
and

e enhanced principles on aggregation and disaggregation which apply to the primary financial statements
and notes in general.

IFRS 18 will replace IAS 1; many of the other existing principles in IAS 1 are retained, with limited changes.
IFRS 18 will not impact the recognition or measurement of items in the financial statements, but it might
change what an entity reports as its ‘operating profit or loss’.
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IFRS 18 will apply for reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2027 and also applies to
comparative information.

In May, 2024 the IASB has published the new standard IFRS 19 “Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures”, which permits a subsidiary to provide reduced disclosures when applying
IFRS Accounting Standards in its financial statements. IFRS 19 is optional for subsidiaries that are eligible
and sets out the disclosure requirements for subsidiaries that elect to apply it.

An entity is only permitted to apply IFRS 19 when:

e itis a subsidiary;

e it does not have public accountability, and

e its ultimate or any intermediate parent produces consolidated financial statements available for public
use that comply with IFRS Accounting Standards.

The new standard is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2027 with earlier
application permitted.

On June 26, 2023, the International Sustainability Standards Board (ISSB) published the first two IFRS
Sustainability Disclosure Standards IFRS S1 “General requirements for the disclosure of sustainability
— related financial information” and IFRS S2 “Climate-related disclosures”. The standards contain
requirements for the disclosure of material information about an entity’s significant sustainability-related
risks and opportunities that are necessary for investors to evaluate the entity.

IFRS S1 establishes general requirements with the objective of requiring an entity to disclose information
about its sustainability-related risks and opportunities. [IFRS S1 prescribes how an entity should prepare and
present its sustainability-related financial information. It sets out general requirements for the content and
presentation of these disclosures so that the information disclosed is useful to primary users of financial
reporting in making decisions about the provision of resources to the entity.

IFRS S2 sets out requirements for identifying, assessing and disclosing information about climate-related
risks and opportunities that is useful to the primary users of general-purpose financial reporting.

The two standards are to be applied for reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024. Earlier
application is permitted. If an entity applies IFRS S1 earlier, it must disclose this accordingly and apply
IFRS S2 at the same time. The mandatory application of the ISSB standards is dependent on their adoption
by a jurisdiction into applicable law. This does not affect entities’ ability to apply the standards voluntarily
(in addition). As at the date of this report, these standards were not adopted by the jurisdiction where the
Organization operates.

IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements” and IAS 28 (amendments) “Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture” — The amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS
28 deal with situations where there is a sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate
or joint venture. Specifically, the amendments state that gains or losses resulting from the loss of control of
a subsidiary that does not contain a business in a transaction with an associate or a joint venture that is
accounted for using the equity method, are recognized in the parent’s profit or loss only to the extent of the
unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or joint venture.

Similarly, gains and losses resulting from the remeasurement of investments retained in any former
subsidiary (that has become an associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity method) to
fair value are recognized in the former parent’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’
interests in the new associate or joint venture. The effective date of the amendments has yet to be set by the
IASB; however, earlier application of the amendments is permitted.

Unless otherwise disclosed, the new standards and interpretations are not expected to have a material effect
on the financial statements of the Organization.
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

December 31,

December 31,

2024 2023
Cash at bank 1,024,511 573,498
Cash on hand 13,681 17,913
Total cash and cash equivalents 1,038,192 591,411

December 31,

December 31,

2024 2023
“Pasha Bank” OJSC 991,482 469,964
“Bank of Baku” OJSC 17,133 24913
“Ziraat Bank Azerbaijan” OJSC 12,056 -
“Azer-Turk Bank” OJSC 2,219 799
“Kapital Bank” OJSC 1,026 6,670
“IBAR” OJSC 595 71,152
Total cash at bank 1,024,511 573,498

December 31,

December 31,

2024 2023
rated from BB- to BB+ 1,622 31,583
rated from B- to B+ 1,022,889 541,915
Total cash at bank 1,024,511 573,498

Ratings are based on the Fitch rating system.
All cash and cash equivalents are in Stage 1 and their ECL is not material as at December 31, 2024 and 2023.

There were no transfers between stages during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

LOANS TO CUSTOMERS
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
Gross carrying amount 64,463,674 53,748,941
Less: allowance for expected credit losses (2,466,281) (2,369,353)
Net carrying amount 61,997,393 51,379,588

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, included in loans to customers were accrued interest receivable in the
amount of AZN 849,891 and AZN 622,754, respectively.
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Movements in the gross carrying amount

The following tables show reconciliation from the opening to the closing balances of gross carrying amount.

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

As at January 1, 2024 49,921,032 711,682 3,116,227 53,748,941
New assets originated or purchased 93,661,431 - - 93,661,431
Assets repaid (82,198,874) (343,666) (454,235) (82,996,775)
Net change in accrued interest 141,996 15,101 70,040 227,137
Other movements 876,101 (13,098) (15,247) 847,756
Transfer to Stage 1 7,109 (6,732) (377) -
Transfer to Stage 2 (1,009,667) 1,010,123 (456) -
Transfer to Stage 3 (1,649,768) (357,773) 2,007,541 -
Write-off - - (1,042,550) (1,042,550)
Recoveries of amounts previously written

off - - 17,734 17,734
As at December 31, 2024 59,749,360 1,015,637 3,698,677 64,463,674

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

As at January 1, 2023 36,911,928 386,265 2,677,057 39,975,250
New assets originated or purchased 64,198,358 - - 64,198,358
Assets repaid (48,866,583) (243,759) (518,043) (49,628,385)
Net change in accrued interest 161,371 12,832 27,929 202,132
Other movements (950,618) (20,467) (4,609) (975,694)
Transfer to Stage 1 3,548 (1,371) 2,177) -
Transfer to Stage 2 (698,150) 700,129 (1,979) -
Transfer to Stage 3 (838,822) (121,947) 960,769 -
Write-off - - (22,720) (22,720)
As at December 31, 2023 49,921,032 711,682 3,116,227 53,748,941

Movements in the allowances for expected credit losses

The following tables show reconciliations from the opening to the closing balances of the allowance for
expected credit losses.

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

As at January 1, 2024 (247,745) (31,158) (2,090,450) (2,369,353)
New assets originated or purchased (633,007) - - (633,007)
Assets repaid 206,203 14,037 1,158,782 1,379,022
Net remeasurement of loss allowance (401,781) (158,340) (1,193,330) (1,753,451)
Transfer to Stage 1 (60) 60 - -
Transfer to Stage 2 43,960 (43,960) - -
Transfer to Stage 3 662,969 175,305 (838,274) -
Write-off - - 1,042,550 1,042,550
Recoveries of amounts previously written

off - - (17,734) (17,734)
Unwinding of discount on present value of

ECLs - - (114,308) (114,308)
As at December 31, 2024 (369,461) (44,056) (2,052,764) (2,466,281)
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Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
As at January 1, 2023 (241,629) (20,071) (1,823,888) (2,085,588)
New assets originated or purchased (368,766) - - (368,766)
Assets repaid 196,793 13,287 307,678 517,758
Net remeasurement of loss allowance (174,087) (46,919) (234,471) (455,477)
Transfer to Stage 1 (99) 15 84 -
Transfer to Stage 2 30,851 (30,905) 54 -
Transfer to Stage 3 309,192 53,435 (362,627) -
Write-off - - 22,720 22,720
As at December 31, 2023 (247,745) (31,158) (2,090,450) (2,369,353)

Credit quality analysis

The following tables set out information about the credit quality of loans to customers as at December 31,
2024 and 2023. The amounts in the tables represent gross carrying amounts.

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Not overdue 57,330,842 92,579 6,113 57,429,534
Overdue less than 30 days 2,418,518 92,111 8,910 2,519,539
Overdue 30-89 days - 820,578 43,467 864,045
Overdue 90-179 days - 10,369 584,380 594,749
Overdue 180-360 days - - 1,016,273 1,016,273
Overdue more than 360 days - - 2,039,534 2,039,534
Gross carrying amount 59,749,360 1,015,637 3,698,677 64,463,674
Less: allowance for expected credit

losses (369,461) (44,056) (2,052,764) (2,466,281)
Net carrying amount as at

December 31, 2024 59,379,899 971,581 1,645,913 61,997,393

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Not overdue 47,883,223 98,818 16,793 47,998,834
Overdue less than 30 days 2,014,674 124,636 8,727 2,148,037
Overdue 30-89 days 23,135 475,318 31,487 529,940
Overdue 90-179 days - 12,910 335,607 348,517
Overdue 180-360 days - - 494,045 494,045
Overdue more than 360 days - - 2,229,568 2,229,568
Gross carrying amount 49,921,032 711,682 3,116,227 53,748,941
Less: allowance for expected credit

losses (247,745) (31,158) (2,090,450) (2,369,353)
Net carrying amount as at

December 31, 2023 49,673,287 680,524 1,025,777 51,379,588

32



NBCO “EMBAFINANS” CLOSED JOINT STOCK COMPANY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 (Continued)
(In Azerbaijani manats, unless otherwise indicated)

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Historical cost

As at January 1, 2023
As at December 31, 2023
As at December 31, 2024

Accumulated depreciation

As at January 1, 2023
Depreciation charge for the year
As at December 31, 2023
Depreciation charge for the year
As at December 31, 2024

Net book value

As at December 31, 2024
As at December 31, 2023

Office
buildings

6,500,000
6,500,000
6,500,000

(2,573,629)

(260,000)
(2,833,629)

(260,000)
(3,093,629)

3,406,371

3,666,371

The Management believes that the fair value of investment property is not less than the carrying value as at

December 31, 2024 and 2023.

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, investment property was insured and pledged as collateral for borrowings.

Rent income and direct expenses arising from investment property were as follows:

December 31,

December 31,

2024 2023
Rent income 180,000 180,000
Depreciation of investment property (260,000) (260,000)
Net loss from investment property (80,000) (80,000)
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9 PROPERTY, EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Office Computer and Vehicles Other Licenses and Total property,
equipment equipment assets computer equipment and
software intangible assets
Historical cost
As at January 1, 2023 183,015 381,552 52,000 237,250 31,432 885,249
Additions 19,990 116,079 43,900 9,318 12,000 201,287
Disposals (21,043) (20,545) - (2,985) (3,225) (47,798)
As at December 31, 2023 181,962 477,086 95,900 243,583 40,207 1,038,738
Additions 31,484 64,312 - 66,138 - 161,934
Disposals - - - (6,078) - (6,078)
As at December 31, 2024 213,446 541,398 95,900 303,643 40,207 1,194,594
Accumulated depreciation
As at January 1, 2023 (141,896) (320,008) (26,867) (206,822) (21,340) (716,933)
Depreciation/amortization charge (16,833) (42,182) (15,495) (14,680) (3,916) (93,1006)
Elimination on disposals 21,043 20,545 - 2,985 3,225 47,798
As at December 31, 2023 (137,686) (341,645) (42,362) (218,517) (22,031) (762,241)
Depreciation/amortization charge (21,165) (52,578) (19,180) (17,970) (4,021) (114,914)
Elimination on disposals - - - 507 - 507
As at December 31, 2024 (158,851) (394,223) (61,542) (235,980) (26,052) (876,648)
Net book value
As at December 31, 2024 54,595 147,175 34,358 67,663 14,155 317,946
As at December 31, 2023 44,276 135,441 53,538 25,066 18,176 276,497
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As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, included in property, equipment and intangible assets in the amount of
AZN 34,358 and AZN 53,538, respectively, were insured.

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, included in property, equipment and intangible assets in the amount of
AZN 591,076 and AZN 551,291, respectively, were fully depreciated assets that were still in use.

10 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
Office buildings
Historical cost
As at January 1, 2023 553,836
Additions (46,320)
Modifications 576,821
As at December 31, 2023 1,084,337
Additions 144,333
As at December 31, 2024 1,228,670
Accumulated depreciation
As at January 1, 2023 (334,374)
Depreciation charge for the year (137,249)
Elimination on disposals 16,142
As at December 31, 2023 (455,481)
Depreciation charge for the year (161,357)
As at December 31, 2024 (616,838)
Net book value
As at December 31, 2024 611,832
As at December 31, 2023 628,856
11 OTHER ASSETS
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
Other financial assets:
Receivables from intermediaries 2,599,448 1,872,097
Settlements with agents 16,700 246,950
Receivables from operating lease activities 60,000 75,000
Less: allowance for expected credit losses (173,575) (156,875)
Total other financial assets 2,502,573 2,037,172
Other non-financial assets:
Prepayments for services 117,578 54,171
Total other non-financial assets 117,578 54,171
Total other assets 2,620,151 2,091,343
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Balances in the amount of AZN 173,575 (December 31, 2023: AZN 156,875) are credit-impaired.
Allowance for expected credit losses for other financial assets is not material as at December 31, 2024 and
2023.

The transfers in stages during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 were immaterial.

BORROWINGS
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023

“Pasha Bank” OJSC 30,708,377 25,335,979
“International Bank of Azerbaijan” OJSC 6,584,844 7,607,751
“Ziraat Bank Azerbaijan” OJSC 1,003,083 -
Entrepreneurship Development Fund of the Republic of Azerbaijan 26,249 15,000
Total borrowings 38,322,553 32,958,730

Borrowings carry an interest rate of 11%-12.5% per annum and mature between January 2025 and December
2025.

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, accrued interest payable included in borrowings amounted to
AZN 232,460 and AZN 171,973, respectively.

A reconciliation of the opening and closing amounts of borrowings with relevant cash and non-cash changes
from financing activities is stated below:

2024 2023
January 1, 32,958,730 20,059,916
Cash flows
Proceeds 51,902,490 49,754,701
Repayment (46,599,154) (36,898,453)
Interest paid (3,350,982) (3,047,777)
Non-cash changes
Interest expense 3,411,469 3,090,343
December 31, 38,322,553 32,958,730

DEBT SECURITIES ISSUED
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
Local bonds 2,524,014 5,107,972
Total debt securities issued 2,524,014 5,107,972
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Debt securities issued represent bonds registered in the State Register for Securities by the Central Bank of
the Republic of Azerbaijan. Bonds were issued at par, are unsecured, carry an interest rate of 11%-11.5%
per annum, and mature between June 2025 and September 2025. Bondholders have the right to demand
repayment of principal before the maturity. There are no restrictions regarding the sale and purchase of the
bonds in the secondary market.

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, accrued interest payable included in debt securities issued amounted
to AZN 24,014 and AZN 142,972, respectively.

A reconciliation of the opening and closing amounts of debt securities issued with relevant cash and non-
cash changes from financing activities is stated below:

2024 2023
January 1, 5,107,972 5,620,000
Cash flows
Proceeds 1,535,000 1,000,000
Repayment (4,000,000) (1,500,000)
Interest paid (681,875) (570,000)
Non-cash changes
Interest expense 562,917 557,972
December 31, 2,524,014 5,107,972
LEASE LIABILITIES
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023

Current portion 212,661 177,651

Non-current portion 481,131 508,768

Total lease liabilities 693,792 686,419

Within 1 Between Total
year 1 and
5 years

December 31, 2024

Minimum lease payments 225,350 630,059 855,409

Finance charges (12,689) (148,928) (161,617)

Net present value 212,661 481,131 693,792

Within 1 Between Total
year 1 and
5 years

December 31, 2023

Minimum lease payments 188,372 699,419 887,791

Finance charges (10,721) (190,651) (201,372)

Net present value 177,651 508,768 686,419
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A reconciliation of the opening and closing amounts of lease liabilities with relevant cash and non-cash
changes from financing activities is stated below:

2024 2023
January 1, 686,419 255,581
Cash flows
Repayment of principal (136,960) (111,822)
Interest paid (80,307) (63,782)
Non-cash changes
New leases 144,333 -
Interest expense 80,307 63,782
Modifications - 576,821
Derecognitions - (34,161)
December 31, 693,792 686,419

PAYABLES TO PARTNERS
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
Payables to “Embawood” LLC 59,345 318,383
Payables to other partners 572,601 268,484
Total payables to partners 631,946 586,867

OTHER LIABILITIES
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023

Other financial liabilities:

Payables to employees 185,124 119,277
Payables for services 173,759 123,891
Payables for unsettled amounts 74,535 57,427
Total other financial liabilities 433,418 300,595
Other non-financial liabilities:

Payable to State Social Protection Fund 128,808 -
Total other non-financial liabilities 128,808 -
Total other liabilities 562,226 300,595

SHARE CAPITAL

The authorized, issued and outstanding share capital comprises 10,000 ordinary shares as at
December 31, 2024 (December 31, 2023: 10,000). All shares have a nominal value of AZN 1,000 per share.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled
to one vote per share at annual and general meetings of the Organization.
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Dividends declared during the year
Dividends paid during the year

Dividends payable

NET INTEREST INCOME

Interest income
Interest on loans to customers

Total interest income calculated using effective interest rate
Interest expense

Interest on borrowings

Interest on debt securities issued

Interest on lease liabilities

Total interest expense calculated using effective interest rate

Total net interest income

December 31,
2024

December 31,
2023

3,000,000
(3,000,000)

December 31,

December 31,

2024 2023
20,704,350 15,313,123
20,704,350 15,313,123
(3,411,469) (3,090,343)
(562,917) (557,972)
(80,307) (63,782)
(4,054,693) (3,712,097)
16,649,657 11,601,026

CHARGE OF EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES ON FINANCIAL ASSETS

The following tables provide a reconciliation of the charge of expected credit losses on financial assets in
the statement of comprehensive income per class of financial instrument for the years ended December 31,

2024 and 2023.

Charge of expected credit losses on loans to customers
Charge of expected credit losses on other financial assets

Total charge of expected credit losses on financial assets

FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

Fee and commission income

Total fee and commission income
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Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2024 2023
(1,007,436) (306,485)
(16,700) -
(1,024,136) (306,485)

December 31,

December 31,

2024 2023
231,389 131,831
231,389 131,831
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FEE AND COMMISSION EXPENSE

Fees paid to intermediaries
Credit inquiry operations
Fees paid to agents

Other

Total fee and commission expense

PERSONNEL EXPENSES

Employee compensation
Payments to Social Security Fund
Other employment expenses

Total personnel expenses

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Software costs

Depreciation and amortization expense
Advertising and marketing expenses
Legal and professional fees
Communication expenses

Office expenses

Business travel and related expenses
Taxes other than income tax

Rent expenses related to short-term or low-value leases
Insurance expenses

Vehicle running costs

Repair and maintenance expenses
Others

Total general and administrative expenses

TAXATION

December 31,

December 31,

2024 2023
(656,421) (486,312)
(388,511) (285,998)

(41,903) (36,047)
(72,045) (56,619)
(1,158,880) (864,976)

December 31,

December 31,

2024 2023
(3,115,031) (2,510,461)
(550,887) (457,844)
(49,887) (28,127)
(3,715,805) (2,996,432)
December 31, December 31,

2024 2023
(747,802) (363,735)
(536,271) (490,355)
(364,016) (394,432)
(195,212) (155,469)
(102,073) (80,022)
(49,161) (16,133)
(41,020) (42,884)
(34,879) (37,153)
(34,136) (14,318)
(25,830) (11,394)
(17,810) (20,445)
(13,187) (27,317)
(87,238) (37,082)
(2,248,635) (1,690,739)

Azerbaijan’s commercial and tax legislation, in particular, may give rise to varying interpretations and
amendments. In addition, as management’s interpretation of tax legislation may differ from that of the tax
authorities, transactions may be challenged by the tax authorities, and as a result, the Organization may be
assessed for additional tax, penalties and interest. The management believes that the Organization is in

substantial compliance of tax legislation.

Current income tax expense

Deferred income tax expense recognized in the current year

Income tax expense

December 31,

December 31,

2024 2023
(1,636,617) (734,531)

(167,759) (45,877
(1,804,376) (780,408)
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Relationship between income tax expense and accounting profit

December 31,

December 31,

2024 2023
Profit before income tax 9,012,123 6,105,712
Theoretical tax charge at the statutory tax rate of 20% (1,802,425) (1,221,142)
Tax effect of permanent differences (1,951) (7,758)
Revision of prior period tax estimation - 448,492
Income tax expense (1,804,376) (780,408)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities

Movements in temporary differences during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 are presented as

follows:
January 1, Charged to December 31,
2024 profit or loss 2024
Loans to customers (73,782) (191,658) (265,440)
Property, equipment and intangible assets (102,121) 10,797 (91,324)
Lease liabilities 27,955 (43,453) (15,498)
Other assets - (3,066) (3,066)
Other liabilities 28,126 27,349 55,475
Right-of-use assets (15,856) 32,272 16,416
Net deferred income tax liability (135,678) (167,759) (303,437)
January 1, Charged to December 31,
2023 profit or loss 2023
Property, equipment and intangible assets (103,005) 884 (102,121)
Loans to customers 394 (74,176) (73,782)
Right-of-use assets (43,306) 27,450 (15,856)
Other liabilities 5,000 23,126 28,126
Lease liabilities 51,116 (23,161) 27,955
Net deferred income tax liability (89,801) (45,877) (135,678)

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Organization, in the normal course of business, carries on business with other entities that fall within
the definition of related party contained in [FRS Accounting Standards as issued by the IASB. These
transactions are carried out in the normal course of business and are measured at exchange amounts, being
the amounts agreed by both the parties. For the purpose of these financial statements, entities are considered
to be related to the Organization if it has the ability, directly or indirectly, to exercise significant influence
over the entities in making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Organization and
other entity is subject to common control or significant influence, key management personnel and other
related parties. Details of the related party transactions are outlined as follows.
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December 31,

December 31,

2024 2023
Statement of financial position:
Payables to partners 59,345 318,383
Other assets 60,000 75,000
Other liabilities 49,146 37,471

December 31,

December 31,

2024 2023
Statement of comprehensive income:
General and administrative expenses (23,241) (27,729)
Rent income 180,000 180,000

Key management compensation is presented below:

December 31,

December 31,

2024 2023
Short-term benefits:
Personnel expenses (salaries and bonuses) (396,510) (336,419)
Total (396,510) (336,419)

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

In the normal course of business, the Organization is party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk in
order to meet the needs of its customers. These instruments, involving varying degrees of credit risk, are not
reflected in the statement of financial position. The Organization uses the same credit control and management
policies in undertaking off-balance sheet contingent liabilities and commitments as it does for on-balance sheet
operations.

At the reporting date, the Organization has no major capital commitments (December 31, 2023: nil).
Legal proceedings

From time to time and in the normal course of business, claims against the Organization may be received
from customers and counterparties. Management is of the opinion that no material unaccrued losses will be
incurred and accordingly no provision has been made in these financial statements.

Taxation

Provisions of the tax legislation of the Republic of Azerbaijan may have more than one interpretation, which
allows the tax authorities to make decisions based on their own interpretation of these provisions. When
taxpayers are in doubt about tax authorities’ interpretation of tax legislation, they are allowed to resort to
court proceeding to defend their position against the tax authorities. It should be noted that the tax authorities
can use the clarifications issued by the judicial bodies that have introduced the concept of “unjustified tax
benefit”, “primary commercial goal of transaction” and the criteria of “commercial purpose (substance) of
transaction”.

Such uncertainty could, in particular, be attributed to the tax treatment of financial instruments/derivatives
and determination of market price of transactions for transfer pricing purposes. It could also lead to
temporary taxable differences occurred due to loan impairment provisions and income tax liabilities being
treated by the tax authorities as understatement of the tax base. The management of the Organization is
confident that applicable taxes have all been accrued and, consequently, recognition of respective provisions
is not required.
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Generally, taxpayers are subject to tax audits with respect to three calendar years preceding the year of the
audit. However, completed audits do not exclude the possibility of subsequent additional tax audits
performed by upper-level tax inspectorates reviewing the results of tax audits of their subordinate tax
inspectorates.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Capital management objectives are to ensure that there is sufficient capital to meet the capital requirements
of the Organization as determined by the underlying business strategy and the minimum requirements of the
regulator. The capital management process is governed by the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board
is responsible for managing the Organization’s capital position in line with internal as well as regulatory
requirements. The Supervisory Board also reviews the volume and mix of the Organization’s assets,
liabilities and funding sources in light of liquidity, capital, risk and profitability considerations.

The Organization’s capital management seeks:

e to comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators and comparable to the peers;

e to actively manage the supply of capital costs and increase capital velocity;

e to increase strategic and tactical flexibility in the deployment of capital to allow for the timely
reallocation of capital;

e to improve the liquidity of the Organization’s assets to allow for an optimal deployment of the
Organization’s resources;

e to protect the Organization against unexpected events and maintain strong ratings;

e to safeguard the Organization’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide
adequate return to shareholders;

e availability of adequate capital (including the quantum) at a reasonable cost so as to enable the
Organization to expand; and

e to achieve low overall cost of capital with appropriate mix of capital elements.

Compliance with prudential regulations

The CBAR requires non-bank credit organizations to maintain certain prudential ratios computed based on
statutory financial statements. As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Organization was in compliance with
these ratios.

As at December 31, 2024, the CBAR requires non-bank credit organizations to maintain a minimum capital
of AZN 1,000,000 (December 31, 2023: AZN 300,000). The Organization complied the minimum capital
requirements as at December 31, 2024 and 2023.
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

As per management’s estimates fair value of the Organization’s financial instruments that are not carried at
fair value in the statement of financial position is stated below:

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value

Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 1,038,192 1,038,192 591,411 591,411
Loans to customers 61,997,393 61,997,393 51,379,588 51,379,588
Other financial assets 2,502,573 2,502,573 2,037,172 2,037,172
Total financial assets 65,538,158 65,538,158 54,008,171 54,008,171
Financial liabilities:
Borrowings 38,322,553 38,322,553 32,958,730 32,958,730
Debt securities issued 2,524,014 2,650,215 5,107,972 5,125,219
Payables to partners 631,946 631,946 586,867 586,867
Other financial liabilities 433,418 433,418 300,595 300,595
Total financial liabilities 41,911,931 42,038,132 38,954,164 38,971,411

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Differences can therefore arise between
the carrying values under the historical cost method and fair value estimates. Underlying the definition of
fair value is a presumption that an enterprise is a going concern without any intention or need to liquidate,
curtail materially the scale of its operations or undertake a transaction on adverse terms.

Assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position measured at fair value are grouped into three
levels of fair value hierarchy. This grouping is determined based on the lowest level of significant inputs
used in fair value measurement, as follows:

e Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

e Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices).

e Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs).

The following table shows the levels within the hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
December 31, 2024
Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 1,038,192 - - 1,038,192
Loans to customers - - 61,997,393 61,997,393
Other financial assets - - 2,502,573 2,502,573
Financial liabilities:
Borrowings - - 38,322,553 38,322,553
Debt securities issued - 2,524,014 - 2,524,014
Payables to partners - - 631,946 631,946
Other financial liabilities - - 433,418 433,418
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Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
December 31, 2023
Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 591,411 - - 591,411
Loans to customers - - 51,379,588 51,379,588
Other financial assets - - 2,037,172 2,037,172
Financial liabilities:
Borrowings - - 32,958,730 32,958,730
Debt securities issued - 5,107,972 - 5,107,972
Payables to partners - - 586,867 586,867
Other financial liabilities - - 300,595 300,595

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Organization’s business involves taking on risks in a targeted manner and managing them
professionally. The core functions of the Organization’s risk management are to identify all key risks for
the Organization, measure these risks, manage the risk positions and determine capital allocations. The
Organization regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect changes in markets,
products and best market practice. The Organization’s aim is to achieve an appropriate balance between risk
and return and minimise potential adverse effects on the Organization’s financial performance. The
Organization defines risk as the possibility of losses or profits foregone, which may be caused by internal
or external factors.

The Organization’s risk management is coordinated at its head office, in close cooperation with the
Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well
as written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and
use of non-derivative financial instruments.

Operational risk

The Organization’s operational risk is related to possible losses which may be incurred as a result of failures
occurring in the Organization’s day-to-day operations, such as breakdown in electronic and
telecommunication, routines or other systems - additional factors being insufficient levels of professional
skills or human errors. In order to keep the Organization’s operational risks to a minimum level, various
tools are used to manage operational risk using a common categorization of risk.

The Organization’s approach to operational risk is not designed to eliminate risk, rather, to contain it within
the acceptable levels, as determined by senior management, and to ensure that they have sufficient
information to make informed decisions about additional controls, adjustments to controls, or other risk
responses.

Geographical risk

All financial assets and liabilities of the Organization are concentrated within the boundaries of Azerbaijan
Republic as at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that market prices and rates can change and this can have an adverse effect on
profitability and/or capital. The Organization is exposed to number of market risks relating to its daily
operations, arising from open positions in interest rates and currency, all of which are exposed to general
and specific market movements. For the purpose of market risk, management identifies its main market risk
factors as equity position risk, interest rate risk and foreign currency risk. The predominant market risk is
foreign currency risk and interest rate risk. The Organization is not significantly exposed to equity position
risk as it has no capital market operations.
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The Organization, as a matter of policy, seeks to identify, measure, monitor and control market risks in order
to protect against adverse movement in market prices and rates and to optimize the risk/return profile of its
open positions. The Supervisory Board mainly oversees development and implementation of market risk
policy and risk measuring/monitoring methodology and review and reporting of market risks against limits.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the earnings and/or
capital will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The Organization manages its foreign
exchange exposures by matching foreign currency assets and liabilities. Net open position and counterparty
limits have been established to limit risk concentration.

Foreign currency-denominated financial assets and liabilities which expose the Organization to currency
risk are disclosed below. The amounts shown are those reported to key management personnel translated
into AZN at the closing rate:

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Financial Financial Open Financial Financial Open
assets liabilities currency assets liabilities currency
position position
AZN 65,538,144 (42,544,282) 22,993,862 54,008,157 (39,587,813) 14,420,344
EUR 14 (61,441) (61,427) 14 (52,770) (52,756)
Total 65,538,158 (42,605,723) 22,932,435 54,008,171 (39,640,583) 14,367,588

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of profit/(loss) before tax and equity in regard to the
Organization’s financial assets and financial liabilities and the EUR/AZN exchange rate “all other things
being equal”. It assumes a +10% change of the EUR/AZN exchange rate for the year ended at
[December 31, 2024 (December 31, 2023: £10%). The sensitivity analysis is based on the Organization’s
foreign currency financial instruments held at each reporting date.

If the AZN had weakened or strengthened against the EUR by 10% (December 31, 2023: 10%), then this
would have had the following impact:

Profit before income tax Equity
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2024 2023 2024 2023
AZN weakened by 10% (6,142) (5,276) (4,914) (4,220)
AZN strengthened by 10% 6,142 5,276 4914 4,220

Exposures to foreign exchange rates vary during the year depending on the volume of overseas transactions.
Nonetheless, the analysis above is considered to be representative of the Organization’s exposure to foreign
currency risk.

Interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate

because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.
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The Organization takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest
rates on both its fair value and cash flow risks. Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes but
may reduce losses in the event that unexpected movements arise. The Supervisory Board sets limits on the
level of mismatch of interest rate re-pricing and value at risk that may be undertaken, which is monitored

daily by Risk Management Specialist.

The following tables illustrate the level of mismatch of interest rate re-pricing:

Within 1 1 month to
month 6 months

December 31, 2024
Total financial assets 10,641,683 12,046,884
Total financial liabilities 3,707,956 18,901,175

6 months 1 year to
to 1 year 5 years

32,003,231 7,305,595
18,446,347 484,881

Non- Total
interest
bearing

3,540,765 65,538,158
1,065,364 42,605,723

13,556,884 6,820,714

2,475,401 22,932,435

Net interest gap 6,933,727 (6,854,291)
Cumulative interest gap 6,933,727 79,436
Within 1 1 month to
month 6 months
December 31, 2023
Total financial assets 9,008,074 10,010,932

Total financial liabilities 5,415,277 11,560,261

13,636,320 20,457,034

6 months 1 year to
to 1 year 5 years

27,570,744 4,789,838
17,655,315 4,122,268

22,932,435

Non-interest Total
bearing

2,628,583 54,008,171
887,462 39,640,583

Net interest gap 3,592,797  (1,549,329)

9,915,429 667,570

1,741,121 14,367,588

Cumulative interest gap 3,592,797 2,043,468

11,958,897 12,626,467

14,367,588

The table below illustrates the sensitivity of profit/(loss) before tax and equity to a reasonably possible
change in interest rates of +1%. These changes are considered to be reasonably possible based on
observation of current market conditions. The calculations are based on a change in the average market
interest rate for each period, and the interest-bearing financial instruments held at each reporting date that
are sensitive to changes in interest rates. All other variables are held constant.

Profit before income tax Equity
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2024 2023 2024 2023
1% increase 20,457 12,626 16,366 10,101
1% decrease (20,457) (12,626) (16,366) (10,101)

Liquidity risk

The following tables illustrate discounted contractual maturity analysis for financial assets and liabilities:

Up to 1 month to 6 months to 1 year to Total
1 month 6 months 1 year 5 years
December 31, 2024
Total financial assets 14,182,448 12,046,884 32,003,231 7,305,595 65,538,158
Total financial liabilities 4,773,320 18,901,175 18,446,347 484,881 42,605,723
Net liquidity gap 9,409,128 (6,854,291) 13,556,884 6,820,714 22,932,435
Cumulative liquidity gap 9,409,128 2,554,837 16,111,721 22,932,435
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Up to 1 month to 6 months to 1 year to Total
1 month 6 months 1 year 5 years
December 31, 2023
Total financial assets 11,636,657 10,010,932 27,570,744 4,789,838 54,008,171
Total financial liabilities 6,302,739 11,560,261 17,655,315 4,122,268 39,640,583
Net liquidity gap 5,333,918 (1,549,329) 9,915,429 667,570 14,367,588
Cumulative liquidity gap 5,333,918 3,784,589 13,700,018 14,367,588

The following tables illustrate undiscounted contractual maturity analysis for financial liabilities:

Up to 1 month to 6 months to 1 year to Total gross
December 31, 2024 1 month 6 months 1 year 5 years cash outflow
Borrowings 4,052,182 19,508,390 17,738,793 3,836 41,303,201
Debt securities issued 23,542 1,117,708 1,548,049 - 2,689,299
Lease liabilities 18,779 93,895 112,676 630,059 855,409
Payables to partners 631,946 - - - 631,946
Other liabilities 433,418 - - - 433,418
Total 5,159,867 20,719,993 19,399,518 633,895 45,913,273

Up to 1 month to 6 months to 1 year to Total gross
December 31, 2023 1 month 6 months 1 year 5 years cash outflow
Borrowings 5,697,601 12,757,854 14,218,633 2,987,778 35,661,866
Debt securities issued 42,500 212,500 4,276,500 998,500 5,530,000
Lease liabilities 15,697 78,488 94,187 699,419 887,791
Payables to partners 586,867 - - - 586,867
Other liabilities 300,595 - - - 300,595
Total 6,643,260 13,048,842 18,589,320 4,685,697 42,967,119

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Organization is unable to meet its obligations when they fall due as a result
of cash requirements from contractual commitments, debt maturities or other cash outflows. Such outflows
would deplete available cash resources for client lending and investments. In extreme circumstances, a lack
of liquidity could result in reductions in the statement of financial position and sales of assets, or potentially
an inability to fulfil lending commitments. The risk that the Organization will be unable to do so is inherent
in all banking operations and can be affected by a range of institution-specific and market-wide events
including, but not limited to, credit events, systemic shocks and natural disasters. The Supervisory Board
monitors the maintenance of the statement of financial position liquidity ratios and liquidity contingency
plans.

Credit risk

The Organization exposes itself to credit risk, which is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will
cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to meet an obligation. Exposure to credit risk arises as a
result of the Organization’s lending and other transactions with counterparties, giving rise to financial assets
and off-balance sheet credit-related commitments. The Organization’s maximum exposure to credit risk is
reflected in the carrying amounts of financial assets in the statement of financial position. For financial
guarantees issued, commitments to extend credit, undrawn credit lines and export/import letters of credit,
the maximum exposure to credit risk is the amount of the commitment.
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Credit risk is the single largest risk for the Organization’s business; management therefore carefully
manages its exposure to credit risk. The estimation of credit risk for risk management purposes is complex
and involves the use of models, as the risk varies depending on market conditions, expected cash flows and
the passage of time. The assessment of credit risk for a portfolio of assets entails further estimations of the
likelihood of defaults occurring, the associated loss ratios and credit conversion factors.

Limits

The Organization structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk
accepted in relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and to geographical and industry segments.
Limits on the level of credit risk by product and industry sector are approved regularly by management.
Such risks are monitored on a revolving basis and are subject to an annual, or more frequent, review.

The Organization established a number of credit committees that are responsible for approving credit limits
for individual borrowers. Depending on the magnitude of credit risk, the decisions on transactions with
corporate clients are approved either by the Main Credit Committee or the Small Credit Committee. These
committees convene weekly. In certain circumstances (for example, based on tenor or size) loans are
approved by the Executive Board or the Board of Directors.

Loan applications originated by the relevant client relationship managers are passed on to the relevant credit
committee for the approval of the credit limit. Exposure to credit risk is also managed, in part, by obtaining
collateral as well as corporate and personal guarantees. In order to monitor exposure to credit risk, regular
reports are produced by the officers based on a structured analysis focusing on the customer’s business and
financial performance. Any significant interaction with customers with deteriorating creditworthiness is
reported to and reviewed by the Executive Board or the Board of Directors.

Expected credit loss (ECL) measurement — definitions

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of the present value of future cash shortfalls (i.e., the weighted average
of credit losses, with the respective risks of default occurring in a given time period used as weights). An ECL
measurement is unbiased and determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes.

Discount Rate — a tool to discount an expected loss to the present value at the reporting date. The discount rate
represents the effective interest rate (EIR) for the financial instrument or an approximation thereof.

Lifetime period — the maximum period over which ECL should be measured. For loans with fixed maturity,
the lifetime period is equal to the remaining contractual period. For loan commitments and financial
guarantee contracts, this is the maximum contractual period over which an entity has a present contractual
obligation to extend credit. For credit cards issued to individuals, it is the period that is based on internal
statistics, and it is equal to 3 years.

Lifetime ECL — losses that result from all possible default events over the remaining lifetime period of the
financial instrument.

12-month ECL — the portion of lifetime ECLs that represent the ECLs resulting from default events on a
financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date that are limited by the
remaining contractual life of the financial instrument.

Forward-looking information — the information that includes the key macroeconomic variables impacting
credit risk and expected credit losses for each portfolio segment. A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in
accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should consider forward-looking information.

Credit Conversion Factor (CCF) — a coefficient that shows that the probability of conversion of an off-
balance sheet amounts to exposure on balance within a defined period. It can be calculated for a 12-month
or lifetime period. Based on the analysis performed, the Organization considers that 12-month and lifetime
CCFs are the same.
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Purchased or originated credit-impaired (POCI) financial assets — financial assets that are credit-impaired
upon initial recognition.

Low credit risk financial assets — assets that have an investment grade defined by external rating agencies
or corresponding internal rating, debt instruments issued by the Republic of Azerbaijan and nominated in
AZN, loans to companies owned by the Republic of Azerbaijan and nominated in AZN. The presumption,
being that there have been significant increases in credit risk since initial recognition when financial assets
are more than 30 days past due, has not been rebutted.

Default and credit-impaired asset — a loan is in default, meaningfully aligned with the definition of credit-
impaired, when it meets one or more of the following criteria:

e the borrower is more than 90 days past due on its contractual payments;

e the loan is restructured less than 6 months ago and is 31-90 days past due on its contractual payments;

e the Organization considers to sell the borrower’s debt with significant losses (more than 5% of the
principal debt balance and accrued interest);

e the borrower has the external rating below Caa2;

e the Organization has classified the borrower in the default rating class according to the master scale.

The Main Credit Committee decides on recognition of the borrower as credit-impaired one based on the
unlikeliness-to-pay criteria listed below:

e the borrower is insolvent;
e it is becoming likely that the borrower will enter bankruptcy;
e other criteria reflecting difficulties with successful fulfilling of obligations by the borrower.

An instrument is considered to no longer be in default (i.e., to have cured) when it no longer meets any of
the default criteria for a consecutive period of six months.

Significant increase in credit risk (SICR) — the SICR assessment is performed on an individual basis and on
a portfolio basis. For loans issued to legal entities and individuals, interbank loans and debt securities
accounted for at AC or at FVOCI, the SICR is assessed on an individual basis by monitoring the triggers
stated below. The criteria used to identify a SICR are monitored and reviewed periodically for
appropriateness by the Organization’s Risk Management Department.

The Organization considers a financial instrument to have experienced a SICR when one or more of the
following quantitative, qualitative or backstop criteria have been met.

For loans issued to legal entities and bonds issued by the legal entities, interbank operations and bonds
issued by the banks:

e 31-90 days past due;
e Restructured and 6-30 days past due;
e Monitoring suggests borrower has financial difficulties.

For loans to individuals:

31-90 days past due;

Restructured and 6-30 days past due;

Refinanced loan — a special type of loan when all loans of the borrower are refinanced into one;
Inclusion of loan into a watch list zone by the NPL department.

If there is evidence that the SICR criteria are no longer met and this has lasted at least 6 months, the
instrument will be transferred back to Stage 1. If an exposure has been transferred to Stage 2 based on a
qualitative indicator, the Organization monitors whether that indicator continues to exist or has changed.
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ECL measurement — description of estimation techniques

For non-POCI financial assets, ECLs are generally measured based on the risk of default over one of two
different periods, depending on whether the credit risk of the borrower has increased significantly since
initial recognition. This approach can be summarized in a three-stage model for ECL measurement:

Stage 1: a financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition and its credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition; loss allowance is based on 12-month ECLs.

Stage 2: if a SICR since initial recognition is identified, the financial instrument is moved to Stage 2 but not
deemed to be credit-impaired; loss allowance is based on lifetime ECLs.

Stage 3: if the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is then moved to Stage 3 and
loss allowance is based on lifetime ECLs.

ECL for POCI financial assets is always measured on a lifetime basis (Stage 3), so at the reporting date, the
Organization only recognizes the cumulative changes in lifetime expected credit losses.

The Organization can carry out three separate approaches for ECL measurement:

e assessment on an individual basis;

e assessment on a portfolio basis: internal ratings are estimated on an individual basis but the same credit
risk parameters (e.g., PD, LGD) will be applied during the process of ECL calculations for the same
credit risk ratings and homogeneous segments of the loan portfolio;

e assessment based on external ratings.

The Organization performs an assessment on an individual basis for the following types of loans issued to
legal entities: loans with unique credit risk characteristics, individually significant loans and credit-impaired
loans.

The Organization performs an assessment on a portfolio basis for the following types of assets: loans and
credit-related commitments issued to legal entities (standard lending, specialized lending, loans to leasing
companies, etc.), interbank loans, retail loans and loans issued to SMEs. This approach incorporates
aggregating the portfolio into homogeneous segments based on borrower-specific information.

The Organization performs assessments on external ratings for the following types of loans: interbank loans,
debt securities issued by the banks, legal entities and sovereigns, loans issued to sovereigns.

Principles of assessment on an individual basis — ECL assessments on an individual basis are done by
weighting the estimates of credit losses for different possible outcomes against the probabilities of each
outcome. The Organization defines at least two possible outcomes for each loan, one of which leads to credit
loss in spite of the probability of such a scenario. Individual assessment is mainly based on the expert
judgement of the Problem Loans Collection Department. Expert judgements are regularly tested in order to
decrease the difference between estimates and actual losses.

Principles of assessment on a portfolio basis — to assess the staging of exposure and to measure a loss
allowance on a collective basis, the Organization combines its exposures into segments on the basis of
shared credit risk characteristics, such as that exposures to risk within a group are homogeneous. Examples
of shared characteristics include: type of customer (such as income-producing real estate or leasing
companies), product type (such as credit cards or cash loans), credit risk rating and date of initial recognition.

The different segments reflect differences in credit risk parameters such as PD and LGD. The
appropriateness of groupings is monitored and reviewed on a periodic basis by the Risk Management
Department.
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In general, ECL is the multiplication of the following credit risk parameters: EAD, PD and LGD (definitions
of the parameters are provided above). The general approach used for ECL calculation is stated below. It
could be applied for products assessed on a portfolio basis and for products for which the Organization has
credit risk ratings assessment based on borrower-specific information. The ECL is determined by predicting
credit risk parameters (EAD, PD and LGD) for the next 12 months or instrument lifetime. These three
components are multiplied together and adjusted for the likelihood of survival (i.e., the exposure has been
repaid or defaulted in an earlier period). The brief principles of calculating the credit risk parameters are as
follows.

The EADs are determined based on the expected payment profile, which varies by product type:

e for amortizing products and bullet repayment loans, EAD is based on the contractual repayments owed
by the borrower over a 12-month or lifetime basis.

e for revolving products, the EAD is predicted by taking the current drawn balance and adding a credit
conversion factor that accounts for the expected drawdown of the remaining limit by the time of default.

Two types of PDs are used for calculating ECLs: 12-month and lifetime PD:

e 12-month PDs — the estimated probability of a default occurring within the next 12 months (or over the
remaining life of the financial instrument if less than 12 months). This parameter is used to calculate
12-month ECLs. An assessment of a 12-month PD is based on the latest available historical default data
and adjusted for forward-looking information when appropriate.

e Lifetime PDs — the estimated probability of a default occurring over the remaining life of the financial
instrument. This parameter is used to calculate lifetime ECLs for Stage 2 exposures. An assessment of
a Lifetime PD is based on the latest available historical default data and adjusted for forward-looking
information when appropriate.

To calculate Lifetime PD, the Organization uses different statistical approaches depending on the segment
and product type, such as the extrapolation of 12-month PDs based on migration matrices and developing
lifetime PD curves based on the historical default data. For lifetime PD calculations, the Organization uses
historical default data and the extrapolation of trends for longer periods during which default data was not
available.

LGD represents the Organization's expectation of the extent of loss on a defaulted exposure. LGD varies by
the product, stage and the availability of collateral or other credit support. The 12-month and lifetime LGDs
are determined based on the factors that impact the expected recoveries after a default event. The approach
to LGD measurement can be divided into three possible approaches:

e measurement of LGD based on the specific characteristics of the collateral;
e calculation of LGD on a portfolio basis based on recovery statistics;
e individually defined LGD depending on different factors and scenarios.

For loans secured by real estate, the Organization calculates LGD based on specific characteristics of the
collateral, such as projected collateral values, historical discounts on sales and other factors. For particular
segments of the corporate, retail, interbank loan portfolio and corporate bonds LGD is calculated on a
collective basis based on the latest available recovery statistics.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
December 31, December 31.
2024 2023
Net profit for the year attributable to the shareholders of the Organization 7,207,747 5,325,304
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of basic and
diluted earnings per share 10,000 10,000
Earnings per share - basic and diluted 721 532
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

The Organization obtained new borrowings in the amounts of AZN 15,900,000 from “Pasha Bank” OJSC
and AZN 1,200,000 from “International Bank of Azerbaijan” OJSC.

The Organization issued new debt securities in the amount of AZN 2,000,000.

The Organization declared and paid dividends in the amount of AZN 3,000,000.
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